BRIEF OF APPELLANTS
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
FEB 02 2021
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Case No. 2020-001445

Mr. Randy Gilchrist and Mrs. Cheryl Gilchrist
Appellants

v.

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Was it error for the Public Service Commission (PSC) to dismiss the Gilchrists' complaint, failing to protect persons and property?
2. Was it error for the Public Service Commission to deny the Gilchrists a hearing on the issue of the right to privacy, and thus resulting in a denial of due process of law guaranteed by the U. S. Constitution, Fifth Amendment?
3. Is the installation of a data collection device, in this case a smart meter, without the consent of the homeowner, a violation of the Gilchrists' right to privacy under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and under the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, Article 1, Section 10? And, is this a taking of private property under Article 1, Section 13 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina?

Statement of the Case

This is an appeal from the Public Service Commission's Dismissal of our Complaint and Denial of Hearing of said complaint. See Designation of Matter item A, an individual complaint filed with Public Service Commission of South Carolina (hereinafter PSC), PSC Directives/orders items B(1) and (2) and Order Dismissing Complaint Designation of Matter B(3) and Order Denying Hearing, item B(4).

The Appellants, hereinafter "we" informed Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC (hereinafter DEC) as early as July 3, 2017, that we did not consent to the installation of a smart meter at our residence located at 3010 Lake Keowee Lane in Seneca, SC. See Designation of Matter C(1). On April 10, 2018, and again on May 18, 2018, [see Designation of Matter items C(2) and C(3)], we received letters from DEC attempting to obtain consent for the installation of a smart meter, and acknowledging the existence of privacy issues associated with these meters.

We responded to these letters on June 7, 2018, [Designation of Matter C(4)] with a Notice of No Consent and Notice of Liability which listed numerous concerns regarding our right to privacy, followed by a Demand for Removal of All Digital Electric Meters, Notice of No Consent and Notice of Liability on July 18, 2018, [Designation of Matter C(5)] and a Notice of Right of Self-Defense and Demand that DEC Cease and Desist on August 25, 2018,

[Designation of Matter C(6)]. On October 4, 2018, we sent a sworn affidavit [Designation of Matter C(7)]. DEC did not respond to these letters.

On November 21, 2018, we found a door hanger from Duke Energy [Designation of Matter C(8)] which threatened service disconnection, a 24-hour notice. To reiterate, we had never consented to the installation of the smart meter. The notice states that they were unable to access the meter due to a fence, physical structure, or animal. None of these exist at the meter box which is easily accessible. Perhaps they were referring to the Constructive Contract [Designation of Matter F(1)] posted on the meter box.

On November 24, 2018, we contacted State Senator Thomas Alexander, [Designation of Matter C(9)], to see if he might be able to help with this issue. On December 4, 2018, DEC mailed a final notice [Designation of Matter C(10)] claiming they were unable to access the meter (which is in an unfenced area and easily accessible to anyone) and also that DEC would disconnect service if we did not schedule an appointment for the installation of a smart meter. Again, the only "obstruction" was the Constructive Contract [Designation of Matter F(1)] taped to the meter box.

On December 14, 2018, we responded to the threatened cut-off of electricity [Designation of Matter C(11)] informing DEC of medical issues with the residents and again restating that they do not consent to the installation of a smart meter. In a letter to Duke Energy on October 23, 2019, [Designation of Matter C(12)] we complained that a smart meter was installed

without our consent. DEC responded on November 11, 2019, [Designation of Matter C(13)] acknowledging that a smart meter was installed on October 10, 2019. We then contacted the Public Service Commission on October 10, 2019. We contacted the PSC on November 29, 2019, [Designation of Matter C(14)] regarding DEC's installation of a smart meter over our objections.

A letter dated December 12, 2019, and copied to us, the Gilchrists, sent by DEC to Bruce Kirby, Investigator with the Office of Regulatory Staff, [Designation of Matter C(15)] explained that their efforts to obtain consent from the Gilchrists failed – so they installed the smart meter on October 10, 2019; the privacy concerns had been ignored!

We filed a complaint with the PSC on June 1, 2020, [Designation of Matter A]. DEC responded with a Motion to Dismiss to which we filed an Objection and Demand for Hearing on July 13, 2020, [Designation of Matter D (1)]. On July 18, 2020, [Designation of Matter D(2)] we responded to the July 14, 2020, letter from the attorneys for Duke Energy [Designation of Matter D(2)] requesting a hearing on DEC's Motion to Dismiss be held with us present.

On July 24, 2020, we filed a motion objecting to DEC's Motion to Dismiss [Designation of Matter D(2)], and again we demanded a hearing [Designation of Matter D (3)]. Included with this filing is a copy of DEC's Motion to Dismiss dated July 20, 2020. Our complaint was dismissed by the PSC on August 24, 2020 [Designation of Matter B(3)]. We then filed a Petition

for a Hearing on August 6, 2020, [Designation of Matter D(4)], which was premature, but refiled on August 24, 2020 [Designation of Matter D(4)]. The Petition for Rehearing was denied by the PSC on October 1, 2020, [Designation of Matter B(4)]. On September 15, 2020, prior to the Petition for Rehearing being denied, we had written to the Commission regarding a letter from DEC's attorneys objecting to our Petition for rehearing, and demanding a hearing on this matter [Designation of Matter D(5)].

On October 31, 2020, we sent a letter requesting transcripts of Commission meetings regarding the Gilchrist complaint [Designation of Matter D(6)] for an appeal to the SC Court of Appeals.

Standard of Review for Each Issue

For issues 1, 2 and 3 the Standard of Review is de novo as such are errors of law. U.S. v. Campa 529 f. 3d 980 992 (11th Cir. 2008)

Argument

We respectfully request the court to review our briefs to the PSC [Designation of Matter D(1),(3) and (4)] incorporated herein by reference to said documents. Issues 1 and 2 amount to a denial of due process and a failure of the administrative court to protect persons and property. We would also like to point out that this case is not about DEC being – or not being – a state actor.

This is irrelevant to the issues at hand. It is our contention that DEC violated the law in the installation of a smart meter which is also a surveillance and data collection device on our residence over our objections and without our consent.

In the PSC order which dismisses our complaint [Designation of Matter B(3)] the PSC is in error on several points:

- 1) We compared the DEC smart meter to the data collection devices offered by insurance companies to their insured. It would be unlawful to force these devices on their customers without their consent. PSC claims that the smart meter is used to meter a service that is billed on a consumption basis, and is therefore a necessary part of the provision of electric service. An analog meter for many years worked just fine for that purpose, recording only the amount of electricity consumed. Smart meters collect much more data... data that can be hacked, sold, and used by government agencies – for good or bad – data that is owned by the homeowner. See Designation of Matter B(1) through (6). This data is being stolen by DEC absent the informed consent of the homeowners. It is unlawful to install a surveillance device on a person's car, home, phone, or other device or property without the consent of the owner. We repeat: a smart meter is a surveillance device! See Designation of Matter G(1), (2), and (4) through (8), H(1) and (2).

2) DEC may not be a state actor. DEC is however a state-regulated utility. The PSC's purpose is to regulate the activities of the electric provider. As a state agency, with administrative court functions, their number one job is to protect person and property. PSC is a state actor, and when notified of criminal activity by a utility company that they regulate, it is expected by the people that they will act in the peoples' interest. See Designation of Matter D(3) and SC Code of Laws, Title 58, Chapter 27, Article 1, Sec. 5827210 entitled *Actions to prevent or discontinue violations of law or orders of Commission.*

The Office of Regulatory Staff is charged with prosecuting violations of law by electric utilities in order to prevent or have the violation(s) discontinued.

3) Criminal acts by DEC are not necessary, nor proper. DEC asserts SC Code Ann. Regs. 103-344. It is not acceptable for DEC to install surveillance devices without the informed consent of the homeowner in order to provide electric service. DEC convenience is not an acceptable reason for customers to be required to pay a fee in order to prevent unlawful acts by DEC. This is known as extortion. We are aware that DEC has allowed customers in other jurisdictions to keep their analog meters and have the customer read the meters monthly with no opt-out fee. We were never offered this option.

The PSC and DEC rely on SC Code Ann. Regs. 103-344 as the authority for DEC to install surveillance devices on the homes of customers without informing them of the capabilities of these devices or the intended use of the data collected, private data to be used and sold without the consent of the owners of the data. Analog meters can still be purchased and manufactured. Advancing technology should not be allowed to override people's rights. See 16 Am. Jur. 2nd Section 70 – "No public policy of a state can be allowed to override the positive guarantees of the U. S. Constitution." It can be argued that the electric grid is more susceptible to hostile attacks with smart meters, and therefore puts the people in harm's way and at great risk of damage, which can easily be avoided with the older technology – like analog meters.

None of the regulations cited by PSC or DEC authorizes unlawful activity. PSC Commissioners take an oath to support and defend the Constitution of the United States and the South Carolina State Constitution. The PSC administrative court is bound by those Constitutions. See SC Code of Laws, Title 58, Chapter 3, Article 1 Section 58330, *Oaths...*

SC Code of Laws, Title 58, Chapter 27, Sec. 58271990 states that a hearing should be held if the commission determines it is necessary for the protection of substantial rights and in the public interest. If the right to privacy is not a substantial right or in the public interest according to the PSC, then what is? We contend that the right to privacy is a fundamental

right – an inalienable right – and therefore a substantial right and certainly in the public interest. See U. S. Constitution, Fourth Amendment.

The PSC Commissioners have violated their oath of office and have failed to support and defend the Constitutions of both this state of South Carolina and the United States. Issues #1 and #2 raised in this appeal should be unequivocally answered YES. It was error to dismiss our complaint and deny us a hearing where we could be physically present and afforded an opportunity to present evidence and be given due process to the fullest extent of the law.

Regarding issue #3: Is the installation of a smart meter, a data collection device, on our property without our consent, a violation of our right to privacy? This is also answered YES.

Our right to privacy is protected by the U. S. Constitution's Fourth Amendment. It's also protected by the South Carolina State Constitution, Article 1, Section 10. The installation of the smart meter on our property is also a violation of our SC Constitution's Article 1 Section 13, taking of private property for private use. In addition to these protections, SC Code of Laws Title 16, Chapter 5, entitled *Offenses against civil rights*, Section 16510, *Conspiracy against civil rights*, provides for felony criminal penalties

“... or violates the person or property of a citizen... or attempts by any means, measures or acts to hinder, prevent, or obstruct a citizen in the free exercise or enjoyment of any right or privilege

secured to him by the Constitution and laws of the United States or by the Constitution and laws of this state.”

SC Code of Laws Title 16, Chapter 17, Article 7, *Miscellaneous offenses*, Section 1617410 defines conspiracy. The Common Law crime known as “conspiracy” is defined as a combination between two or more persons for the purpose of accomplishing an unlawful object or lawful object by unlawful means. This is also a criminal felony. Furthermore: Title 16, Chapter 17, Section 1617470 *Eaves dropping*...

D(1) “Place where a person would have a reasonable expectation of privacy” means: ... (b) a place where one would reasonably expect to be safe from hostile intrusion or surveillance.

D(2) “Surveillance” means secret observation of the activities of another person for the purpose of spying upon and invading the privacy of the person.

The United States Supreme Court, in *Carpenter v. United States*, 585 U.S. __ 2018, cites a third party doctrine:

The third party doctrine rests on “the notion that an individual has a reduced expectation of privacy in information knowingly shared with another,” Judge Michael Kanne wrote, citing *Carpenter v. United States*, 138 S.Ct. 2219 (2018) but in this context a choice to share data imposed by fiat is no choice at all.

United States Court of Appeals, 7th Circuit

No. 16 – 3766, August 16, 2018

Naperville Smart Meter Awareness v. City of Naperville

See Designation of Matter H(1) and (2)

If our home is not a place where we have a reasonable expectation of privacy, then we obviously have no privacy at all, and this flies in the face of fundamental Constitutional principles. We do not want to share our personal information with DEC. We should not be forced to allow DEC to collect this information in order to be provided with electric service.

To reiterate, #1: Non-invasive, analog meters are available to meter electric usage. They have been used for many years.

#2: There is no federal mandate for the use of smart meters.

#3: Smart meters can be hacked.

#4: Government can buy that data from third parties without 4th Amendment protections/warrants. Charging a fee to allow us to keep our information private amounts to extortion. We are aware that DEC has allowed customers to keep analog meters and also allows customers to read meters monthly with no opt-out fee. We were never offered this option.

#5: In addition to the privacy issue, we have raised concerns about the meter's effect on health and the environment which we do not believe DEC has properly addressed.

DEC believes it is not a state actor; but, because, quoting from *The Indiana Lawyer*, [Designation of Matter G(8)] "... utilities have statutory powers to condemn property and install power lines on private rights of way, they can be considered as 'quasi-governmental entities.' This would subject them to prohibitions against unreasonable searches and seizures...."

Even if DEC is not a state actor, South Carolina citizens have rights to privacy under S.C. law, especially in their own homes. DEC is violating those laws and our rights by forcibly, under threat of service disconnect, without the owner's informed consent and in our case, over our repeated objections. The PSC has failed in their duty to protect our rights. In other words, they failed in fulfilling their reason and purpose for existence, which is the protection of persons and property.

In the transcripts of the meetings that were held regarding our complaint, the Commission seems to conclude that Constitutional provisions don't apply – only regulations apply and therefore they feel that we have failed to state a claim upon which relief may be granted by the Commission. This is obvious error of law. See Designation of Matter E(1) and (2).

As we have stated, "It is the duty of the courts to be watchful for the Constitutional rights of the citizen and against any stealthy encroachments thereon."

– Boyd vs. United States 116 US 616