RECEIVED

Apr 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

South Carolina Public Service Commission Docket No. 2020-147-E

Appellate Case No. 2020-001445

Randy and Cheryl Gilchrist.....Appellants,

v.

Duke Energy Carolinas, LLCRespondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Frank R. Ellerbe, III (Bar No. 1866)
Samuel J. Wellborn (Bar No. 101979)
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street (29201)
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Telephone: 803-929-1400
Email: fellerbe@robinsongray.com
swellborn@robinsongray.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The sole issue on appeal is whether the South Carolina Public Service Commission (the “Commission”) correctly dismissed Appellants’ complaint, which did not allege a violation of any law which the Commission has jurisdiction to administer or a violation of any order or rule of the Commission. There is no statute, regulation, or Commission order that prohibits the use of a smart meter,¹ a fact that is fatal to the appeal in this case, and the Commission acted under its statutory authority to dismiss the complaint, as discussed below. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1990. While the Commission does regulate the terms of service provided by a utility, the Commission has already exercised that regulatory authority to permit the use of smart meters and also to approve options that allow customers to opt out and instead be served by a manually read meter.

Further, the dismissal of a complaint that does not allege a violation of a law, regulation, or order of the Commission does not amount to a denial of due process, and Appellants have made a series of filings with the Commission in this case, which amount to process commensurate with the issues alleged and rights asserted by Appellants. Pursuant to the Commission’s enabling act and governing statutes, the Commission regulates utility service through the establishment of standard terms of service. This mode of regulation precludes the kind of one-off treatment that Appellants appear to be seeking. While Appellants may be philosophically opposed to opting out, such does not create a justiciable controversy that is jurisdictional to the Commission or appealable to this Court. Finally, this appeal is not about Appellants’ right to privacy as they have been repeatedly informed and reminded of their ability to opt out, including in the Commission’s orders

¹ A smart meter, otherwise sometimes known as an Advanced Metering Infrastructure or AMI meter, is a device that automatically measures and transmits to the utility, via a secure network, each customer’s electricity usage data, typically at more frequent intervals than once per month.

in this case, while Appellants have repeatedly declined to avail themselves of that option. For these reasons, the Commission's order should be affirmed.

I. The Commission found that Appellants' complaint does not allege a Commission-jurisdictional violation, and such is fatal to the appeal.

There is no statute, regulation, or Commission order that prohibits the use of a smart meter. This fact is fatal to the appeal in this case. While the Commission has authority to regulate the terms of service provided by a utility, the Commission has already exercised that authority to permit the use of smart meters and also to approve options that allow customers to opt out and instead be served by a manually read meter.

The federal Energy Policy Act of 2005 required each state utility regulatory authority to "conduct an investigation and issue a decision whether or not it is appropriate for electric utilities to provide and install time-based meters and communications devices for each of their customers which enable such customers to participate in time-based pricing rate schedules and other demand response programs." Energy Policy Act of 2005, Pub. L. No. 109-58 § 1252(b)(3)(i) (R. __). The docket initiated by the Commission in compliance with this directive was Docket No. 2005-386-

E. After a hearing in that proceeding, the Commission found as follows

[W]e note the conspicuous lack of focus on residential and commercial customers with respect to smart metering. One reason for the low usage of smart meters by residential and commercial customers may be a lack of knowledge on the part of those customers with respect to the availability and capability of smart meters. We therefore order the utilities to continue to make smart meters available to all customers, and also order the utilities to propose, within 180 days from the date of this Order, a communications plan to inform all customers of the availability and capability of smart meters, how they may use those capabilities to better manage their power requirements, and any additional costs and available payment arrangements for those costs.

Order No. 2007-618 at 4, Docket No. 2005-386-E (Aug. 30, 2007) (R. __). The Company filed its communications plan on February 26, 2008, in which it informed the Commission that it had begun offering customers time of use rate options, which included smart metering, as early as

1981, and that smart meters were available under certain rate schedules available to customers. Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC's Smart Meter Communications Plan at 1, Docket No. 2005-386-E (Feb. 26, 2008) (R. ___).

Years later, in 2016, the Company began to deploy smart meters on a broader scale, and it acknowledged that some customers may have concerns about smart meters. Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC's Request for Approval of AMI Opt-Out Rider at 2, Docket No. 2016-354-E (Oct. 10, 2016) (R. ___). The Company stated, however, that there are added costs to being served by a manually read meter, including "a set-up fee associated with costs including but not limited to customer enrollment, information technology ('IT') enhancements, installation of a manually-read meter, and assignment to a manual meter reading route," and it proposed that customers choosing to opt out be required to cover those costs as provided in the proposed Manually Read Meter ("MRM") Rider. *Id.* (R. ___). The Commission approved the Company's proposal, finding as follows:

As more smart meters are deployed, drive-by routes are being discontinued which necessitates the need for a long-term solution for those customers that object to the installation of a smart meter. Upon implementation of Rider MRM, customers objecting to the installation of a smart meter will be provided with the option to receive a manually read meter.

Order No. 2016-791 at 2-3, Docket No. 2016-354-E (Nov. 17, 2016) (R. ___). In 2019, the Company proposed a revision to the MRM Rider that would permit the associated fees to be waived upon the provision of a statement from a licensed physician that the customer must avoid exposure to radio frequency emissions, to the extent possible, to protect their health. That proposal was approved by the Commission. Order No. 2019-429, Docket No. 2016-354-E (June 12, 2019) (R. ___); Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC, Manually Read Meter Rider (effective June 12, 2019), *available at* <https://etariff.psc.sc.gov/Attachments/tariffFile/4fb1b847-1212-4c68-a42e-c2b260c45e88> (R. ___).

As explained above, the Commission has authorized the use of smart meters by the Company; it has approved an opt-out option through the MRM Rider for customers who would prefer to be served by a manually read meter; and it has approved a fee-free option for appropriate customers. Appellants have failed to explain how, in spite of the Commission’s approval of these options, the Company has violated the law. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1940 requires that complaints set forth “any act or thing done or omitted to be done by any electrical utility in violation, or claimed violation, of any law which the commission has jurisdiction to administer or of any order or rule of the commission.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1940 (emphasis added). The Commission’s regulations likewise provide as follows: “Any person complaining of anything done or omitted to be done by any person under the statutory jurisdiction of the Commission in contravention of any statute, rule, regulation or order administered or issued by the Commission, may file a written complaint with the Commission, requesting a proceeding.” S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-824 (emphasis added). Appellants may not agree with the series of prior Commission decisions permitting the use of smart meters, or they may not care to “opt out” and instead be served by a manually read meter,² but such does not create a basis under the law for filing a complaint against the Company, or for challenging the Commission when it dismisses that complaint.

Complementing the statutory requirement that complaints actually allege a violation of law or order or regulation of the Commission, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1990 authorizes the Commission to dismiss a complaint without a hearing if a hearing is “not necessary in the public interest or for the protection of substantial rights.” Certainly, if the complaint does not allege a

² Appellants stated the following in a June 1, 2020 letter filed with the Commission: “We did not wish to opt out; we did not see any reason to opt out. The question that Duke Energy should be asking is if their customers want to opt in. In our case we do not want to opt in” Appellants’ Letter to Commission (June 1, 2020) (R. ___).

Commission-jurisdictional violation, the public interest would not be served by wasting resources on a hearing. Likewise, when there is no Commission-jurisdictional allegation to be adjudicated, there can be no “substantial right” to be protected by the Commission. Although Appellants make reference to “conspiracy against civil rights” and “eaves dropping” in their appellate brief, these matters were not raised in their complaint and are therefore not preserved for appeal, and are in any case—as criminal statutes—not jurisdictional to the Commission. Appellant’s Initial Brief at 8-9 (citing S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-5-10, 16-17-470).

As found by the Commission:

Regulation 103-320, when read in conjunction with Regulation 103-344, which recognizes that Company’s ability and duty to furnish electric meters, it is clear that the Company has not only permission for access for necessary business purposes, but also a duty to use that permission to furnish meters to its customers. Therefore, it is a proper exercise of business purpose by the Company to access the property and install the new meter.

[The Company] has not violated any statute, nor Commission rule or regulation. Therefore, there is no relief available to the Complainants in this case, and the case must be dismissed. However, the Commission notes that, pursuant to tariffs filed with the Commission, for those customers wishing to have a manually read meter, the MRM Rider is available.

Order No. 2020-562 at 3-4, Docket No. 2020-147-E (Aug. 24, 2020); *see also* Order No. 2016-34 at 16, Docket No. 2013-119-S (Jan. 8, 2016) (“This matter was ripe for dismissal at the outset of its filing because it failed to allege any matter cognizable under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-270.”). Put simply, Appellants failed to allege a “violation, or claimed violation, of any law which the commission has jurisdiction to administer or of any order or rule of the commission” as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1940, and the complaint was therefore appropriately dismissed.

II. The Commission’s dismissal of a complaint that does not allege a jurisdictional violation does not amount to a denial of due process.

The dismissal of a complaint that does not allege a violation of a law, regulation, or order of the Commission does not amount to a denial of due process. Because the complaint filed by Appellants failed to allege any violation, it did not meet the plain requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1940 and S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 103-824, and was therefore appropriately dismissed pursuant to the Commission’s statutory authority to dismiss complaints under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-1990. Further, Appellants have had multiple opportunities to be heard with the Commission, making no fewer than seven filings with the Commission between June and September 2020 when the complaint was pending, including a series of filings prior to the Commission dismissing the complaint, and a request for rehearing after the Commission dismissed the complaint. These multiple opportunities for the Commission to review and consider Appellants’ positions are consistent with the Commission’s provision of due process in this case. *See Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 394, 675 S.E.2d 776, 781-82 (Ct. App. 2009) (“The existence of review is an indication of the presence of procedural due process, rather than its absence. . . . Because [Appellant] was provided with both pre-deprivation and post-deprivation remedies, his procedural due process rights were not violated.”) (citing *Sunrise Corp. of Myrtle Beach v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 420 F.3d 322, 328 (4th Cir. 2005)). This case law is consistent with the Commission’s similar treatment of a complaint in 2016. In that case, the complainant had cried foul because the Commission had not scheduled oral arguments on a motion to dismiss, which it had granted. The Commission held as follows:

It is not a mandatory requirement that oral argument be held for every motion, which would also violate the tenant of judicial economy and ignore the common practice of courts deciding matters based on the filings. The Commission has consistently applied Regulation 103-829(B) in this way since its promulgation in 2007, entertaining oral argument, or not, in its discretion.

In this case, the Commission received a Motion to Dismiss, a Return to Motion to Dismiss, a Reply to Response to Motion to Dismiss, and a Petition for Rehearing and Reconsideration. Accordingly, it is evident by these filings that [Complainant] had a full opportunity to be heard through written filings, and no oral hearing on the Motion to Dismiss was required, especially since the written filings clearly showed that the Complainant was not entitled to any relief.

Order No. 2016-34 at 14, Docket No. 2013-119-S (Jan. 8, 2016). Likewise, in this case, Appellants did not show that they were entitled to any relief, and the complaint was therefore appropriately dismissed.

Due process is flexible and calls for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm'n*, 376 S.C. 165, 172, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008); *see also S.C. Nat'l Bank v. Cent. Carolina Livestock Market, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 309, 345 S.E.2d 485, 488 (1986) (“Due process does not mandate any particular form of procedure.”). The Commission in this case agreed with the Company that the complaint did not allege a Commission-jurisdictional violation, and that the complaint could be dismissed without further process. As long as due regard has been afforded to the “practicalities and peculiarities” of the case, the constitutional requirements are satisfied. *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314-15, 70 S. Ct. 652, 657, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950). In this case, the practicalities and peculiarities are that the Commission has approved the Company’s use of smart meters; the Commission has established a readily available opt out alternative for customers who choose to have their meter manually read; Appellants have failed to avail themselves of that option; and then Appellants filed a complaint that did not allege a Commission-jurisdictional violation to be adjudicated. Due process has been satisfied.

Where a complaint does not allege a violation of law, regulation, or order that is jurisdictional to the Commission, it is appropriately dismissed by the Commission. Additionally,

Appellants had multiple opportunities to be heard with the Commission in their series of seven filings, including before and after the Commission denied the relief sought, and therefore due process was not compromised in this case. Instead, the process afforded in this case was commensurate with the issues alleged and rights asserted by Appellants; i.e., due regard was afforded to the “practicalities and peculiarities” of this case.

III. The Commission regulates through the offering of standard terms of service, and the Company and the Commission have no duty to entertain Appellants’ request for special treatment.

Were the complaint to have been granted and the Commission to have required the Company to install whatever meter Appellants choose, such would upend the regulatory model the Commission and the utilities it regulates have operated under for decades. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-820 provides as follows:

Under rules and regulations prescribed by the commission, every electrical utility must file with the commission and provide to the Office of Regulatory Staff, within such time and in such form as the commission may designate, schedules showing all rates, service rules and regulations, and forms of service contracts established by the electrical utility and collected or enforced or to be collected or enforced within the jurisdiction of the commission. . . . Each electrical utility, distribution electric cooperative, and consolidated political subdivision must keep copies of the schedules open to public inspection under rules and regulations prescribed by the commission.

Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-840(A) provides that “[n]o electrical utility, or consolidated political subdivision shall, as to rates or services, make or grant any unreasonable preference or advantage to any person, corporation, municipality or consolidated political subdivision to its unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage.” The Commission exercises its authority under this regulatory framework through the review and approval of standard rates and terms of service as memorialized in generally applicable tariffs filed by utilities with the Commission. *See, e.g., Miller v. Cent. Carolina Tel. Co.*, 194 S.C. 327, 8 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1940) (holding that public utilities must furnish service on uniform and nondiscriminatory basis pursuant to terms approved

by the Public Service Commission) (*Miller*). This is consistent with the jurisdiction granted by the General Assembly in the Commission to “fix just and reasonable standards, classifications, regulations, practices, and measurements of service to be furnished, imposed, or observed, and followed by every public utility in this State.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-3-140(A). Such “regulation by tariff” lends efficiency to service regulation and gives assurance that customers are receiving and will receive nondiscriminatory treatment. *See, e.g., Miller*, 8 S.E.2d at 358 (“[S]pecial contract[s] . . . which are not in accord with the general rules and regulations of the Commission, would altogether destroy the uniformity which the law demands, and defeat the object intended”); S.C. Code Ann. § 58-27-850 (providing for the investigation into and modification of terms of service that are “unjust, unreasonable, insufficient, unreasonably discriminatory, or in any way in violation of any provision of law”).

Consistent with these principles, the Commission found as follows in the order on rehearing in the underlying proceeding:

The terms and conditions under which a utility provides service are governed by its tariff and service regulations, not by contracts between the utility and individual customers. Service regulations and tariff provisions approved by the Public Service Commission have the force and effect of law and are binding on utility customers, regardless of whether an individual customer agreed to them.

Order No. 2020-644 at 2, Docket No. 2020-147-E (Oct. 1, 2020) (citing *Carroway v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 226 S.C. 237, 84 S.E. 2d 728 (1954)) (R. ___); *see also* Order No. 2020-342 at 8, Docket No. 2019-331-E (R. ___). As described above, the Commission has approved the use of smart meters, and it has approved an alternative through which customers may be served by a manually read meter. That Appellants may be philosophically opposed to opting out does not create a justiciable controversy that is jurisdictional to the Commission. “A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute.” *Waters v. S.C. Land Res.*

Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 227, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917–18 (1996) (quoting *Pee Dee Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983)); see *Pee Dee Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983) (“The court may refuse to render a declaratory judgment when the judgment would not terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to the proceeding.”) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-53-70 (1976)).

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